131297

131291

NO. 73129-7

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DAVID W. AIKEN,

Appellant,

vs.

CYNTHIA L. AIKEN

Respondent.



BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Aaron L. Shields The Shields Law Firm, PLLC Attorney for Appellant 3301 Hoyt Avenue Everett, WA 98201 T) 425-263-9798 F) 425-263-9978

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court (Commissioner Pro Tem David Patterson) erred in entering the ex parte order of protection on November 24, 2014 (CP 325-328) without requiring any notice to David Aiken, his attorney, or the GAL prior to suspending the parenting plan in case number 13-3-02944-0. There was insufficient evidence to support any position that irreparable injury would result absent a full hearing and the petition failed to identify what actual harm would result if an order was not issued immediately. (CP 249)

2. The trial court (Commissioner Pro Tem Geoff Gibbs) erred in entering an order denying David Aiken's motion for a full testimonial hearing (CP 191-194) and prohibiting Mr. Aiken's attorney from deposing or subpoenaing R.A. on December 22, 2104. (CP 16 and 141)

3. The trial court (Commissioner Jacalyn Brudvik) erred in finding domestic violence had been committed and entering the one-year domestic violence protection order on February 3, 2015 (CP 62-66) and declining to dismiss the action. 4. The trial court (Commissioner Jacalyn Brudvik) erred in entering the modified domestic violence protection order on reconsideration on February 26, 2015. (CP 17-21)

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNEMENTS OF ERROR

1. Is it error for a Superior Court Judge or Commissioner to enter an immediate order suspending an existing parenting plan without notice to the other party or the children's GAL or an opportunity to be heard, when there is no irreparable harm clearly identified or alleged in the Petition and based only upon the contested allegations of one party?

2. Does due process require a testimonial hearing and cross examination in domestic violence protection order hearings involving a parent and a child?

3. Is it unconstitutional to allow the suspension of a parent's right to contact with their child based upon a preponderance of the evidence standard and not the clear, cogent, and convincing evidence standard?

4. Did the court err in entering the one-year protection order in this case and refusing to allow Mr. Aiken the opportunity to crossexamine his accuser?

5. Is it error for a Superior Court Judge or Commissioner to enter a modified protection order on reconsideration, which modifies the order beyond that requested in the motion?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Cynthia Aiken filed an action to dissolve the parties' marriage in the fall of 2013 under cause number 13-3-02944-0. Despite the parties' many disagreements, ultimately the parties entered into a full settlement agreement on October 31, 2014 after a full day of mediation. (CP 70-71)

For nearly a year prior to the settlement, the parties had been actively participating in the dissolution matter and a guardian ad litem (GAL), Jeanette Heard, had been appointed for the parties' three minor children. (CP 138-139) Under the parenting plan the parties had agreed to pursuant to CR2A, Mr. Aiken was scheduled to have his first Thanksgiving with his children since the parties separated in 2013. The GAL had investigated the parties' allegations and had recommended the children have residential time with Mr. Aiken on alternating weekends, holidays, summer and Christmas vacation as well as a mid-week visit every week. (CP 211; 221) Ms. Aiken's attorney had prepared final pleadings and circulated those subsequent to the mediation.

On November 19, 2014, Ms. Aiken's sister in law, Shelby Morrill, notified Mr. Aiken that R.A. would not be available for his scheduled time as she had been taken to the hospital because she was not feeling well at school. (CP 212) He was later advised that R.A. had a stomachache. (CP 116-119) Mr. Aiken did have his residential time with the younger children that afternoon and evening, however. (CP 212)

On November 21, 2014, Mr. Aiken was scheduled to pick up all three children for his weekend residential time. Ms. Aiken advised that R.A. had made a disclosure to her counselor at school and that a CPS report had been made. Mr. Aiken's attorney advised Ms. Aiken's attorney that he would agree not to take R.A. for his scheduled time but that the other two children should, again, participate as they had earlier that week. The GAL, Jeanette Heard, agreed and advised Ms. Aiken's attorney that the younger children would benefit from having time with their father. (CP 75; 213) However, Ms. Aiken communicated through her attorney that since she had already advised all three girls that they would not be going with their father that she would not be changing her mind. (CP 228)

The next Monday, both Mr. Aiken's attorney and the GAL attempted to contact Ms. Aiken's attorney in order to make certain that Ms. Aiken would not be withholding the children during Mr. Aiken's Thanksgiving vacation. (CP 228) Neither Mr. Aiken's attorney nor the GAL received any response suggesting that the residential time would be an issue.

On Tuesday, November 25, 2015, Mr. Aiken's attorney contacted Ms. Aiken's attorney again seeking to address the upcoming Thanksgiving holiday and the GAL advised that the issue need to be immediately addressed. (CP 225) At that time, Ms. Aiken's attorney advised that her client had gone into court on her own and filed a new Petition for Order for Protection under a new cause number, 14-2-01504-4. (CP 225) Accordingly, Mr. Aiken was unable to have his Thanksgiving vacation or any other residential time with any of the children until a further court hearing.

Ms. Aiken's November 24, 2015 Petition alleged that a "member of my family or household is the victim of domestic violence committed by the respondent." (CP 246 paragraph 1) Ms. Aiken did not allege in paragraph one of her Petition that she was a victim of domestic violence. (CP 246 paragraph 1) In her Petition, Ms. Aiken identified that another case was pending, Snohomish County Cause Number 13-3-02944-0 that involved her, the minors and Mr. Aiken. (CP 247 paragraph 6) At the time she filed this action, the parties' had circulated and negotiated final documents in the dissolution action, including a final parenting plan. Ms. Aiken's basis for the protection order was related to information from R.A. and what Ms. Aiken felt were new "findings" after the October 31, 2014 settlement agreement. (CP 72-76)

The order obtained by Ms. Aiken without notice, restrained Mr. Aiken from having contact with any of the children and prohibited him from spending his Thanksgiving Holiday with the children.

On December 8, 2014, at the first return hearing, the court modified the protection order eliminating the younger two children from the order and requiring the CR2A parenting plan to be followed. (CP 233-234) Mr. Aiken's attorney orally requested the court set the matter for a full testimonial hearing with cross-examination pursuant to *Gourley v*. *Gourley* and the sitting commissioner, Lee Tinney, suggested that such a request be made in writing. (CP 322) Accordingly, Mr. Aiken's counsel filed a motion for both an extended hearing and a full testimonial hearing with cross-examination. (CP 191-194) Ms. Aiken's attorney objected to the request for a full hearing suggesting that such a request was, itself, further evidence of abuse. (CP 144) Pro tem commissioner, Geoff Gibbs, granted the request for an extended hearing to be considered with the motions filed separately in 13-3-02944-0. However, the commissioner denied the request for a full testimonial hearing and further prohibited Mr. Aiken's attorney from deposing or subpoenaing R.A. for the hearing. (CP 16; 141)¹

At the hearing on Ms. Aiken's Petition, the trial court found that she had established a fear of harm as to R.A. and the court entered a oneyear order protecting the three children from physical harm or harassment. (CP 63 paragraphs 1 and 2) The court did not find that Ms. Aiken had met any burden related to her allegations about herself and did not enter any restraints as to Ms. Aiken. (CP 282; 62-66)²

Ten days later, Ms. Aiken motioned the court to reconsider it's decision and to modify the protection order as to sections (3) and (6) "as it

¹ Mr. Aiken's attorney had scheduled Ms. Aiken's deposition for December 4, 2014. Ms. Aiken and her attorney failed to appear for that scheduled date (CP 121) and Ms. Aiken's attorney objected to her client being deposed and sought to limit the scope of the deposition only to matters after the signing of the CR2A. (CP 145)

 $^{^{2}}$ The order that entered has two check boxes on page one that are inconsistent with the minute entry as well as the balance of the order in paragraphs 1 and 2. It is not unusual for these check boxes to be filled in by a petitioner or court facilitator prior to the hearing.

relates to the minor child" R.A. (CP 272; 271) Ms. Aiken relied upon the decision of *Hecker v. Cortinas*, 110 Wn. App. 865 (2002), as the authority for her motion as well as new allegations subsequent to entry of the February 3, 2015 order. (CP 273; 275) Mr. Aiken filed a detailed response requesting the court deny the motion to reconsider and modify. (CP 29; 34-35) The court, without any contested hearing or argument, entered a modified order substantially changing the prior order and granting relief beyond that requested. (CP 266) The modified order was not limited to the three children, included restraints related to Ms. Aiken and also included restraints as to R.A. in section (4), none of which were requested in the motion before the court. (CP 4-6) The court based this decision not on any conduct of Mr. Aiken, but upon the reported acts of R.A. after she learned the court had not granted her mother's request for a no contact order.

D. ARGUMENT

The Petition for an Order of Protection is a significant action, which carries with it the ability to curtail substantial rights. *See* RCW 26.50 *et. seq.*, Such relief may often be necessary and reasonable. These sorts of actions, however, also carry with them the ready ability for abuse of the court system and often lead to stigmatize people.³ At least one Washington court has recognized the stigma restraining orders can have. Hough v. Stockbridge, 113 Wn. App. 532, 536-37, 54 P.3d 192 (2002), *overruled on other grounds by* Hough v. Stockbridge, 150 Wn.2d 234, 76 P.3d 216 (2003). The present case is an example of how such a Petition and the resulting orders can be abused and have unintended and inappropriate consequences. Moreover when, as here, the court uses preprinted forms with multiple checkboxes, often times such orders lack clarity because the findings do not accurately reflect what the trial court intended nor do they identify case specific facts or findings.

³ Pierce County has even instituted DVPO "kiosks" to streamline the process. https://www.co.pierce.wa.us/DocumentCenter/Home/View/23821 The procedure for obtaining these orders has become so easy, and the issues of such orders so common place, that it is almost assumed the orders will be entered regardless of the evidence.

1. If No Irreparable Harm Shown There is No basis to enter immediate order without notice to other side.

Because of the nature of these types of proceedings, the court must provide a full and fair hearing for the parties involved. RCW 26. 50.070 allows the court to enter an immediate order without notice *IF* a petition establishes that irreparable harm will result if a temporary order is not issued immediately. In the present case, the Petition did not identify any irreparable harm. Because the parties had been actively participating in a separate parenting plan matter and a GAL had been appointed and recommended that the two younger children continue to have residential time with Mr. Aiken *PRIOR* to Ms. Aiken's appearance on an ex parte basis, it was error for the pro tem commissioner to enter an immediate order without notice to either Mr. Aiken or the GAL.

Ms. Aiken repeatedly asserted that no notice was required under RCW 26.50. However, a careful review of the statutes and the Petition itself suggests otherwise. This court should carefully review this issue so that other parents and individuals in our state are not subjected to immediate orders when no emergency exists and when a party fails to allege or establish any irreparable harm that will ensue. This is especially

necessary when, as here, there is an existing parenting plan and a GAL that is actively involved on behalf of the children.

2. Need for a full testimonial hearing and cross-examination.

Due process requires a full testimonial hearing on the merits. "The fundamental requirement of due process is the opportunity to be heard 'at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner." Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 333 (1976) (quoting Armstrong v. Manzo, 380 U.S. 545,552 (1965)).

Cross-examination is the key safeguard to defend oneself when the only evidence to be considered is hearsay or testimonial records or statements of witnesses. "Cross-examination is the principle means by which the believability of a witness and the truth of his testimony are tested." <u>Davis v. Alaska</u>, 415 U.S. 308, 316, 94 S. Ct. 1105 (1974). Our supreme court has identified that "live testimony and cross-examination" may be appropriate when addressing RCW 26.50 cases involving allegations by a minor against a parent. <u>Gourley v. Gourley</u> 158 Wn.2d 460, 464 and 470 (2006). Our supreme court has also found that "where an outcome determinative credibility issue is before the court in a contempt proceeding, it may often be preferable for the superior court judge or commissioner to hear live testimony of the parties or other witnesses, particularly where the presentation of live testimony is requested. "<u>Marriage of Rideout</u>, 150 Wn.2d 337, 352 (2003). "[I]ssues of credibility are ordinarily better resolved in the 'crucible of the courtroom, where a party or witness' fact contentions are tested by crossexamination, and weighed by a court in light of its observations of demeanor and related factors."" <u>Id</u>. at 352.

This is precisely the type of case that required a full testimonial hearing as contemplated by the authorities above. In the present case Mr. Aiken specifically raised this issue first at the original return hearing and then by written motion. Despite this, the pro tem commissioner entered an order denying the request and further prohibiting Mr. Aiken from seeking to examine the witnesses against him at the hearing. Under the facts of this case, the court's refusal to conduct a full testimonial hearing violated Mr. Aiken's due process rights. Accordingly, the court should dismiss the action against Mr. Aiken or remand the case for a full testimonial hearing.

3. Standard of Proof when a parent child relationship is involved.

These orders impact substantial liberty interests including (a) the right to care for ones child; (b) freedom of movement (travel); and (c) freedom against social stigma.

(a). When a request is made to modify the parent child
relationship and to restrain one parent from access to their child, the court
must satisfy constitutional notions of due process as well as impose the
appropriate burden upon a petitioner. It has long been established that
parents have a fundamental liberty interest in the care of their children.
U.S. Const. amends V, XIV; Wash. Const. art. 1, section 3; Santosky v.
Kramer, 455 U.S. 745, 753, 102 S.Ct. 1388, 71 L.Ed.2d 599 (1982); In re
<u>Custody of Smith</u>, 137 Wn.2d 1, 13-14, 969 P.2d 21 (1998); *aff^{*}d sub nom*. Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57, 120 S.Ct 2054, 147 L.Ed.2d 49
(2000). In termination proceedings clear, cogent and convincing evidence
that a parent is unfit to care for their children must be established before
the state may interfere in the parent child relationship. In re Welfare of
A.B., 168 Wn.2d 908, 232 P.3d 1104 (2010); RCW 13.34.180.

Even in a dissolution action, in order to modify a parenting plan, a parent is required to schedule an adequate cause hearing to present

evidence of a substantial change in circumstances prior to the court even allowing such a request to proceed for further consideration. RCW 26.09.260 - 270. Most often, such disruptions are not in a child's best interests.

(b) Issuance of a protection order can infringe upon Mr. Aiken's constitutional rights to freedom of movement/travel. See State v. Lee, 135 Wn.2d 369, 389-92, 957 P.2d 741 (1998). Mr. Aiken's ability to go to the other children's activities, R.A.'s school to have a parent teacher conference, or travel within a certain distance while transporting the children to and from his residential time is all an issue when the court orders a distance restriction or prohibition upon being some place. Moreover, Mr. Aiken is at risk that Ms. Aiken or R.A. will abuse the orders by deliberately going to the other children's activities and events and thereby force him to either not attend or risk being arrested for an alleged violation.

(c) As noted above, there is a social stigma related with being restrained by a court order as well as the likely impact on a person's employment and housing opportunities. *See* Hough v. Stockbridge, *infra*. Washington applies a stigma-plus test to determine if a stigma on one's reputation rises to the level of a liberty interest. In re Meyer, 142 Wn.2d

608, 620, 16 P.3d 563 (2002). Under the stigma-plus test a person must show a stigmatizing statement made by the government, the accuracy of which is contested, and that the stigma is negatively impacting some other recognized interest of the person. *See* Ulrich v. City and County of San Francisco, 308 F.3d 968, 982 (9th Cir. 2002). Washington courts have recognized that when a stigma to one's reputation affects one's employment opportunity, that impacts a person's liberty interests. Meyer v. University of Washington, 105 Wn.2d 847, 854, 719 P.2d 98 (1986) *citing* Paul v. Davis, 424 U.S. 693, 47 L. Ed 2d 405, 96 S. Ct. 1155 (1976).

Because DV Protection Orders carry with them a stigma and can show up in employment and housing background checks, issuance of such orders can infringe upon one's employment liberties and interest in one's reputation. Moreover, issuance of these orders remains in one's history and cannot be characterized as a temporary injury; the record of the issuance of this order will last forever.

Given the nature of the proceeding and the relief sought, a preponderance of the evidence standard is inappropriate to authorize the infringement of a parent's fundamental liberty interests. While it has been argued and asserted that these types of proceedings are not permanent, the record of entry of such an order is a permanent record. Additionally, the court must recognize that, under the statute, once an order is entered, the burden shifts to the respondent when the other parent seeks to renew the order for another year. RCW 26.50.060 (3).⁴ A one-year order prohibiting a parent from any contact with their child should be based upon clear, cogent and convincing evidence.

4. Failure to Allow Mr. Aiken a Full Testimonial Hearing with the Opportunity to Cross Examine Witnesses Resulted in the Erroneous Findings and the Issuance of a One Year Order.

The court erred in finding the allegations of domestic violence upon R.A. had been properly established. The petition and hearsay allegations relied upon by Ms. Aiken and the court are insufficient and inappropriate. Failure to conduct a full hearing with an opportunity to confront one's accuser and to determine the genesis of the underlying allegations prohibited Mr. Aiken from having a fair hearing.

Ms. Aiken was unaware of any details related to the allegations surrounding R.A.'s disclosure to Sherri Adams that her father pretended to suffocate her at some time in the past. (CP 73-74) Mr. Aiken denied any

⁴ "The court shall grant the petition for renewal unless the respondent proves by a

such actions or intentions and was only able to surmise that such claims may have been a misrepresentation of playful wrestling occurring well before the parties' agreements in October of 2014. Because of the lack of clarity related to the main allegations in support of the Petition, Mr. Aiken could not defend himself without the opportunity to cross-examine the witnesses in this case. Additionally, there was insufficient evidence to establish an incident of domestic violence toward R.A. based upon the assertions he "pretended" to do something.

5. On Reconsideration, the Commissioner Issued a Modified Order Beyond that Requested in the Motion Without a Contested Hearing.

The original order entered on February 3, 2015 did not provide any restraints related to Ms. Aiken. (CP 63) Ms. Aiken filed a motion for reconsideration requesting the court modify the protection order as to sections (3) and (6) "as it relates to the minor child" R.A. (CP 272; 271) The court, without any contested hearing or argument, entered a modified order substantially changing the prior order and granting relief beyond that requested. (CP 266.) The modified order was not limited to the three

preponderance of the evidence that the respondent will not resume acts of domestic ... when the order expires."

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