73129-7

NO.

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DAVID W. AIKEN,

Appellant,

VS.

CYNTHIA L. AIKEN,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Gail B. Nunn
O'Loane Nunn Law Group, PLLC
Attorney for Respondent
2707 Colby Ave., Ste. 1204
PO Box 5519
Everett, WA 98206
425.258.6860 phone
425.259.6224 fax

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

D. ARGUMENT

1. Standard of Review

The standard of review of a Domestic Violence Protection order case is abuse of discretion. Domestic Violence Protection actions are actions seeking injunctive relief. The only issue before the court in a DVPO action is whether or not to grant a protection order limiting, in this case, Mr. Aiken's contact with his wife and children. Injunctions are equitable in nature. *Blackmon v Blackmon*, 155 Wash. App. 715, 721, 230 P.3d 233, 236 (2010). "Abuse of discretion occurs 'when the trial court's decision is manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds or reasons." Id. (quoting State v. Brown, 132 Wash.2d 529, 572, 940 P.2d 546 (1997), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1007, 118 S.Ct. 1192, 140 L.Ed.2d 322 (1998). A court's decision is manifestly unreasonable if it is outside the range of acceptable choices, given the facts and the applicable legal standard. Untenable grounds may be found if the factual findings are unsupported by the record or if it is based on untenable reasons, an incorrect standard, or the facts do not meet the requirements of the correct standard. *Bay v. Jensen*, 147 Wash. App. 641, 651, 196 P.3d 753, 758 (2008) citing In re Marriage of Littlefield, 133 Wash.2d 39, 47, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997) .

In this case there was no live testimony and the appellate court may use the exception to this rule of substantial evidence. The Supreme Court found this appropriate in a civil contempt action where the underlying court did not take live testimony.

We hold here that the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the substantial evidence standard of review should be applied here where competing documentary evidence had to be weighed and conflicts resolved. The application of the substantial evidence standard in cases such as this is a narrow exception to the general rule that where a trial court considers only documents, such as parties' declarations, in reaching its decision, the appellate court may review such cases de novo because that court is in the same position as trial courts to review written submissions. *See*, *e.g.*, *Smith*, 75 Wash.2d at 718-19, 453 P.2d 832.

<u>In re Marriage of Rideout</u>, 150 Wash. 2d 337, 351, 77 P.3d 1174, 1180 (2003), <u>as corrected</u> (Oct. 27, 2003)

2. Whether it is error for a Court Commissioner to follow the statute in entering an order without notice to the respondent.

First and foremost the entry of the temporary order of protection by Commissioner *pro tem* David Patterson on November 24, 2014 is moot. A case is moot if a court can no longer provide effective relief.

Blackmon at 719. Mr. Aiken had subsequent notice and a full hearing on the issues that he complains did not happen at the presentation of the Petition and request for immediate relief. Furthermore, RCW 26.50.070

(1) specifically permits the court to issue a temporary order pending a full hearing.

Where an application under this section alleges that irreparable injury could result from domestic violence if an order is not issued immediately without prior notice to the respondent, the court may grant an ex parte temporary order for protection, pending a full hearing, and grant relief as the court deems proper, including an order..

In the Aiken case Ms. Aiken alleges the need for immediate relief in her Petition and supporting declaration. In her Petition she checked the box that states, "An emergency exists as described below. I request that a Temporary Order for Protection granting the relief requested above in 1) through 12) be issued immediately, without prior notice to the respondent, to be effective until the hearing." Her declaration includes her statement as to why this was necessary including self-harm by R.A. in the form of cutting and pill taking, and disclosure of physical and verbal threats by their father. This was further supported by the medical records provided at time of filing. Given this evidence the commissioner had sufficient evidence to issue the temporary order. The court should not disturb the ruling of the court commissioner absent a clear showing of

abuse of discretion. State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker, 79 Wn. 2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971).

Washington courts have found that the provisions in RCW 26.50 are not ambiguous. *Spence v. Kaminski*, 103 Wash. App. 325, 334, 12 P.3d 1030, 1035 (2000). An unambiguous statute is not subject to judicial interpretation and the statute's meaning is derived from its language. *State v. Chester*, 133 Wash 2d 15, 21, 940 P.2d 1374 (1997).

It was the Legislative intent of RCW 26.50 to intervene before injury occurs. There is a strong public interest in preventing domestic violence. In its statement of intent for RCW 26.50, the Legislature stated that domestic violence, including violations of protective orders, is expressly a public, as well as private, problem, stating that:

Domestic violence is a problem of immense proportions affecting individuals as well as communities. Domestic violence has long been recognized as being at the core of other major social problems: Child abuse, other crimes of violence against person or property, juvenile delinquency, and alcohol and drug abuse. Domestic violence costs millions of dollars each year in the state of Washington for health care, absence from work, services to children, and more.

Laws of 1992, ch. 111, sec. 1.

A cited in , *State v. Dejarlais*, 136 Wash. 2d 939, 944, 969 P.2d 90, 92 (1998).

3. Whether a Respondent in a Domestic Violence Protection action is entitled, as a matter of due process, to cross examine a minor child victim.

Mr. Aiken's assignments of error 2 and 4 are virtually the same and the issues are addressed here. Appellant cites *Davis v. Alaska*, 415 U.S. 308, 94 S.Ct. 1105 (1974) as authority for his position. This is a criminal case where the issue is the ability to cross examine a prosecution witness who had identified the defendant in the crime. The right to confront witnesses in a criminal case is a constitutional right. U.S. Const. Amend. VI; Wash. Const. art. I § 22. Ms. Aiken agrees that right exists. This however, is not a criminal case.

Appellant cites two Washington Supreme Court cases in his argument. One case cited, *In re Marriage of Rideout*, 150 Wash. 2d 337, 77 P.3d 1174, (2003, *as corrected* (Oct. 27, 2003), is a civil contempt case where a mother was found in contempt for failing to follow the parenting plan. The hearing was on the written statements only and no live testimony was provided. The court upheld the finding of contempt despite there being no oral testimony.

Our Washington Supreme Court addressed almost identical issues on appeal as Mr. Aiken's in its *en banc* decision in *Gourley v. Gourley*,

158 Wn. 2d 460, 145 P.3d 1185 (2006). This is the second case cited by Mr. Aiken. While the alleged abuse in *Gourley* was sexual abuse as opposed to physical abuse by Mr. Aiken, one cannot ignore the similarities in the demands of Mr. Gourley to those of Mr. Aiken. In both cases there is a request for a full testimonial hearing, including cross examination of the minor child involved. Interestingly, the *Gourley* case also originated in Snohomish County, Washington.

The Washington Supreme Court found the due process requirements of being heard at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner are protected by the procedure outlined in RCW 26.50. citing *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 333 (1976) (quoting *Armstrong v. Manzo*, 380 U.S. 545, 552 (1965)). *Gourley* at 468. Mr. Aiken, like Mr. Gourley claims due process requires cross examination. While the statute refers to a full hearing, it does not require live testimony, and as found in *Gourley*, it certainly does not include a requirement for cross examination. "Therefore, nothing in the statutory scheme explicitly requires a trial judge to allow the respondent in a domestic violence protection order proceeding to cross-examine a minor who has accused him of sexual abuse." *Gourley* at 469-70.

The *Gourley* decision was based on the facts of that case as Mr. Gourley did not claim that the statute was unconstitutional. Mr. Aiken also does not claim the statute unconstitutional. The evidence considered in the Aiken case by Commissioner Brudvik at the extended hearing was abundant. The Commissioner had before her the written, sworn testimony of Ms. Aiken, Sandra Morrill, Noel Chipongian, Terri Day, the GAL report of Jeannette Heard, the deposition transcript for deposition of Cynthia Aiken taken January 9, 2015, and sealed medical records, including mental health records, for R.A., M.A. and Q.A. The court commissioner had ample evidence upon which to base her decision to grant a one year order without cross examination or live testimony.

Furthermore, in her concurring decision in *Gourley*, Judge
Christine Quinn-Britnall serving as a justice *pro tempore* accurately points
out that the constitutional right to confrontation of accusers is explicitly
limited to criminal prosecutions. U.S. Const. Amend. VI; Wash. Const.
art. I § 22. This concurring opinion also pointed out that due process is
not a legal rule but is flexible and calls for such procedural protections as
the particular situation demands. *Gourley* at 474. Mr. Aiken's counsel
deposed Ms. Aiken prior to the hearing and provided the transcript for the
court. Furthermore the GAL appointed in the divorce case, had
opportunity to interview the children and their mental health care

providers and she too filed a report for the court based on her investigation.

Mr. Aiken includes an assignment of error that the order issued for one year without his due process rights being met. RCW 26.50.060(2)³ limits the issuance of DVPO's on behalf of children to one year. Commissioner Brudvik followed the statute and issued an order for a one year period of time. Her order is also clearly subject to orders in the dissolution of marriage case as to M.A. and Q.A. and thus, Mr. Aiken's time with his two younger children was not really impinged at all. He was restrained from harming them, but not seeing them.

Mr. Aiken claims his right to care for his children was violated. This claim was also made by Mr. Gourley. The courts have recognized a fundamental liberty interest in the care of one's children. *Troxel v. Granville*, 530 U.S. 57, 120 S.Ct 2054, 147 L.Ed.2d 49 (2000). However, protection orders are not permanent orders and the standard of proof is the preponderance of the evidence. In considering the one year order, the *Gourley* court stated,

However, the possible length of the deprivation of the interest is also an important factor in the *Mathews* test.

-

³ RCW 26.50.060 (2) If a protection order restrains the respondent from contacting the respondent's minor children the restraint shall be for a fixed period not to exceed one year.

Mathews, 424 U.S. at 341, 96 S.Ct. 893. Thus, we must consider that Mr. Gourley's right was only temporarily restrained by the protection order. On its face, the duration of the protection order was only one year, and the order was further subject to orders issued in the dissolution action.

Gourley v. Gourley, 158 Wash. 2d 460, 468, 145 P.3d 1185, 1188 (2006)

In the Aiken matter, the order was subject to orders in the dissolution action and father had the right to continue to visit with M.A and Q.A. but not R.A.

Since <u>Gourley</u>, the Washington courts have consistently upheld the constitutionality of the domestic violence protection laws. In addition the courts have addressed the due process and right to cross examination issue in several cases.

Given all, we hold DVPA protection orders are special proceedings. Thus, the trial court retained the inherent authority and discretion to decide the nature and extent of any discovery under the DVPA. Therefore, the trial court did not err in denying Mr. Crosby's discovery request because he fails to show an abuse of discretion.

Scheib v. Crosby, 160 Wash. App. 345, 352, 249 P.3d 184, 187 (2011).

See also *Blackmon v. Blackmon*, 155 Wash. App. 715 (2010); *Spence v. Kaminski*, 103 Wash App 325 (2000); *Hecker v. Cortinas*, 110 Wash. App. 865 (2002).

Mr. Aiken also claims the order interferes with this constitutional right of freedom to travel. His fear that Ms. Aiken or R.A. will abuse the orders by attending events of M.A. or Q.A. thus forcing him to leave or risk being arrested. This is mere speculation and not supported by the record. As support of his argument, he cites the *en banc* decision in *State v. Lee*, 135 Wn. 2d 369, 957 P.2d 741 (1998). In *State v. Lee*, two defendants convicted of violation the stalking laws filed appeal in part based on this argument. While it is not specifically argued in his brief that he is claiming that RCW 26.50 is unconstitutional based on this right to travel, the short answer should be, no it is not unconstitutional on these grounds. The Lee court stated,

This Court has held that freedom of movement may not be used to impair the individual rights of others. No travel rights of one individual can supersede the constitutional rights of other individuals.

When the purpose of legislation is to promote the health, safety and welfare of the public and bears a reasonable and substantial relationship to that purpose, every presumption must be indulged in favor of constitutionality

State v. Lee, 135 Wash. 2d 369, 390, 957 P.2d 741, 752 (1998)

The court of appeals addressed the right to travel in relation to the entry of a DVPO, citing *Lee*.

But that freedom of movement cannot be used to impair the individual rights of others. *Lee*, 135 Wash.2d at 390, 957 P.2d 741. As with the stalking statute, RCW 9A.46.110, the protection order of RCW 26.50 curtails an abuser's right to move about when such movement is harmful or illegal and interferes with the victim's right to be free of invasive, oppressive and harmful behavior.

Spence v. Kaminski, 103 Wash. App. 325, 336, 12 P.3d 1030, 1036 (2000).

While Mr. Aiken seeks his right to travel, that right does not have precedence over Mrs. Aiken's and/or R.A. right to be and feel safe in their own activities.

Mr. Aiken next complains that the order will create a social stigma and will impact his employment and housing opportunities. He cites <u>In re</u> <u>Meyer</u>, 142 Wn. 2d 608, 16 P3d 563 (2002). Meyer is a rape case. In the decision, the court addresses when damage to reputation rises to the level of social stigma. The court finds reputational interest does not give rise to a liberty interest, discussing the U.S. Supreme Court ruling.

But reputational interest does not give rise to a liberty interest. In *Paul v. Davis*, 424 U.S. 693, 712, 96 S.Ct. 1155, 47 L.Ed.2d 405 (1976), the United States Supreme Court found an individual had no right to due process before

police officers posted his picture with an identification as an "Active Shoplifter" in various retail establishments. That individual filed a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 action, alleging his procedural due process rights were violated and claiming a protected interest in reputation and future employment opportunities. Paul, 424 U.S. at 701, 96 S.Ct. 1155. Justice Rehnquist examined a long line of decisions in which the Court had protected an interest in reputation, and then wrote an interest in reputation is "neither 'liberty' nor 'property' guaranteed against state deprivation without due process of law." Id. at 712, 96 S.Ct. 1155. The Court reasoned the government's conduct to be actionable, must not only affect the individual's reputation, but must be accompanied by some other injury. Paul, 424 U.S. at 708-10, 96 S.Ct. 1155. The Court ruled "reputation alone, apart from some more tangible interests" is not deserving of protection. Id. at 701, 96 S.Ct. 1155. This holding has come to be known as the "stigma-plus" requirement.

In re Meyer, 142 Wn. 2d 608, 620, 16 P.3d 563, 569 (2001).

The case of *Hough v. Stockbridge*, 113 Wash App. 532 (2002) cited by Appellant does not support his argument. The Houghs claimed that the order against them was stigmatizing, but this is not the basis for the finding of error in issuing the anti-harassment order. The underlying trial court's action was found to be in error because there was no petition, no affidavit, no notice and no admissible evidence of harassment. This case was reversed by the Washington Supreme court in a *per curium* decision, *Hough v. Stockbridge*, 150 Wash. 2d 234, 236, 76 P.3d 216, 217 (2003).

We know nothing of how Mr. Aiken's reputation or employment is or may be damaged by this restraining order. There has been no state action against him, and the courts have clearly ruled reputation is not a property or liberty interest. The alleged damage is again mere speculation. The other case cited by Appellant is *Meyer v. University of Washington*, 105 Wn 2d 847, 854, 719 P2d 98 (2008). This is a defamation case by a tenured professor who was reprimanded by the university. The court found no liberty interest was damaged by the reprimand.

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